FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
1/10/2020 4:06 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/13/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98073-0

49492-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN ALLEN BOOTH JR.,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

The Honorable Richard Brosey, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835 Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm Corner of Rock and Pine P. O. Box 58 Centralia, WA 98531 (360) 736-9301

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, John Booth, appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review that is designated in part B of this petition.

B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Booth seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in cause number 49492-2-II, 2019 WL 5704636, filed November 5, 2019. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix A at pages A-1 through A-18. Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration that was denied on December 12, 2019. Appendix B.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. A defendant has the constitutionally protected right to counsel which carries the right to confer and consult with counsel during the entirety of the criminal proceeding. The State violates the right to counsel when it eavesdrops on these confidential conversations. Dismissal of the proceeding is the proper remedy where the State violates the right to counsel by listening into these confidential attorney-client communications. Should this Court accept review where the State engaged in a pattern of eavesdropping on Booth's communications with his attorneys and with defense investigators?

2. Should this Court accept review where the trial court truncated Booth's testimony regarding his lack of confidence in his trial counsel after the State's repeated deliberate and egregious intrusion into privileged communication with his attorneys and defense investigator, where the issue of lack of confidence in one's counsel is a critical factor when assessing the issue of prejudice in governmental eavesdropping cases?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted Booth of two counts of murder in the first degree, one count of murder in the second degree, one count of attempted murder in the first degree, one count of attempted extortion in the first degree, and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. He was convicted of all counts and he appealed his convictions, which were affirmed in an unpublished opinion filed August 12, 2014. *State v. Booth*, 2014 WL 3970707. Booth filed a motion to either vacate and dismiss the judgment and sentence or hold an evidentiary hearing pursuant to CrR 7.8.

Booth appealed his the denial of his CrR 7.8, challenging many of the court's findings of fact on the basis that substantial evidence does not support them, and on the basis that he received ineffective assistance of counsel, and that the eavesdropping by the jail staff violated his rights to counsel and to due process. By unpublished opinion filed November 5, 2019, the Court of Appeals, Division II, affirmed the convictions. See unpublished opinion.

Booth now petitions this Court for discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The considerations that govern the decision to grant review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner believes that this court should accept review of these issues because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)).

1. THE STATE ENGAGED IN AN EGREGIOUS,
PERVASIVE PATTERN OF EAVESDROPPING
ON BOOTH'S CONVERSATIONS WITH HIS
ATTORNEYS AND DEFENSE INVESTIGATOR
IN VIOLATION OF BOOTH'S RIGHT TO
COUNSEL AND TO DUE PROCESS

An accused person has a constitutional right to confer privately with defense counsel. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22; which provides, inter alia, "In criminal prosecutions, the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel, . . ." *State v. Cory*, 62 Wn.2d 371, 373, 382 P.2d 1019, (1963); *State v. Peña-Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d 808, 818, 318 P.3d 257 (2014). The attorney-client privilege is "the oldest of the privileges for confidential communications known to the common law." *United States v. Zolin*, 491 U.S. 554, 562, 105 L. Ed. 2d 469, 109 S. Ct. 2619 (1989) (quoting *Upjohn Co. v. United States*, 449 U.S. 383, 389, 66 L. Ed. 2d 584 (1981)). This right is fundamental and is not a luxury. *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984). So fundamental is this right that it has been

recognized as the right to effective assistance of counsel. *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 90 S.Ct. 1441, 25 L.Ed.2d 763 (1970). This right to effective assistance cannot be disregarded by the State. *Reece v. Georgia*, 350 U.S. 85, 76 S.Ct. 167, 100 L.Ed. 77 (1955). "Intrusion into private attorney-client communications violates a defendant's right to effective representation and due process." *State v. Garza*, 99 Wn. App. 291, 296, 994 P.2d 868 (2000).

Eavesdropping on an attorney-client conversation is presumptively prejudicial. *State v. Peña-Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d 808, 819, 318 P.3d 257 (2014). Dismissal is mandatory unless the prosecution proves, beyond a reasonable doubt, "there is no possibility of prejudice." *Peña-Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d at 819-20. State intrusion into those private conversations is a blatant violation of a foundational right even when no information is communicated to the prosecutor. *Peña-Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d at 819. In "those rare circumstances where there is no possibility of prejudice," the State bears the burden of showing "beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not prejudiced." *Id.*, at 810-820.

Here, the State engaged in a deliberate, egregious pattern of eavesdropping on Booth when communicating with his attorneys and defense investigator using three distinct methods. A defendant cannot receive effective assistance of counsel without the right to confer with defense counsel in private. *Cory*, 62 Wn.2d at 373-74. The opportunity to confer is necessary to provide access to counsel. *State v. Sargent*, 49 Wn.App. 64, 75, 741 P.2d 1017 (1987), rev'd on other grounds, 111 Wn.2d

641, 762 P.2d 1127 (1988). The Fifth and Sixth Amendments "unqualifiedly guard the right to assistance of counsel, without making the vindication of the right depend upon whether its denial resulted in demonstrable prejudice." Cory, 62 Wn.2d at 376, quoting Coplon v. United States, 89 U.S. App. D.C. 103, 191 F.2d 749, 759 (1951). The fact that the attorney visitation booths were not soundproofed and that conversations could be easily heard outside the booths was known to law enforcement as early as 2008. Investigators took advantage of this by stationing two officers outside the visitation room during every meeting with Booth's attorney or investigator. The Lewis County jail staff was consistently stationed outside the attorney visitation booth at the jail when he met with counsel in order to overhear his privileged communication with counsel. This was done to capitalize on a known flaw in the attorney client booths that allowed conversations to be heard outside the booths. This eavesdropping resulted in Officer Lamping overhearing a statement by Mr. Booth that "[t]he guy had a gun so I had to shoot him." 1RP at 181. Officer West testified that "Mr. Booth stated that he did kill the kid and the kid had a gun." 1RP at 101.

Regarding telephone calls to counsel, Officer Haskins, testified that he listened to part of a call that he recognized as being to one of Mr. Booth's

attorneys, confirming that least one attorney call was recorded. The officer stated he reported this incident to Lt. Pea, a report which he subsequently denied receiving. More disturbingly, the State admitted that it was recording calls to Booth's investigator at Run Down Investigations if made via his number at his bail bond company. Officer Haskins confirmed that he refused to stop recording the calls. More alarmingly, Lt. Pea testified that he did not believe inmate calls to a defense investigator was confidential.

Officers West, Harper, Sullivan and Lamping were responsible for regularly transporting Booth. RP at 98-99, 181, 429. Officer West testified that when the officers outside the visitation booth could hear conversations between Booth and his attorneys, they moved away. RP at 100-01. Officer West testified that he did in fact overhear one conversation between Booth and his attorney in which Booth made a highly inculpatory statement. RP at 101-02. In Section 1.C of its unpublished opinion, the Court addressed the instances of eavesdropping alleged by Booth during meetings between Booth and his attorneys while in visitation booths at the Lewis County Jail. Booth, slip. op. at *11. As the Court noted in its opinion, the trial court found that when jail officers including "Lamping overheard Booth's conversation in the visitation room, they immediately distanced

themselves. It also found that West, Lamping, and the other transport COs had a "self-imposed gag order" where they would not and did not share any information inadvertently overheard." Booth, slip. op. at *12. CP 354; RP at 549).

The Court's findings also overlooks the testimony from multiple witnesses that it had been widely "known that there was noise that could be heard" from the visitation booths at the jail, that the booths were not soundproofed and that conversations could be heard not only outside the door, but in adjoining booths, and that had been the condition of the visitation area for several years. RP at 50, 52, 56, 101, 113, 116, 244-45, 249-50, 284. Although Officer West said that the officers moved away from the door shortly after hearing convictions by Booth, the Court's ruling overlooks the testimony Officer Sullivan that even when they were "down the hall" from the door of the visitation booth in use, "you could hear him muffled." RP at 432. The testimony does not support the conclusion that by merely removing themselves from the immediate vicinity of the booth, conversations could not be heard by jail staff.

In addition, although it was Officer Lamping's and West's testimony that the officers did not report what they overheard during Booth's attorney meeting, the trial court's assessment that the officers had

what the judge termed a "self-imposed gag order" is not supported by the record. RP at 549. By affirming the court's finding of fact regarding the court's sua sponte finding of a so-called "gag order," this Court overlooked Officer Sullivan's testimony that there was no "code of silence" among the four transport officers. RP at 441, 442. Respectfully, this Court's reliance on the trial court's finding of a "self- imposed gag order" is not supported by the record.

State v. Cory, supra is controlling authority. In Cory, jail staff surreptitiously recorded Cory and his attorney's confidential consultations in a jail conference room. Once the recordings came to light, the trial court refused to dismiss the action but agreed to exclude from trial the confidential conversations and any evidence derived from the illegal eavesdropping. Cory, 62 Wn.2d at 372. There was no evidence the deputy told the prosecutor about it, but the court presumed some information would have been conveyed and the defendant could not know if the State used it to shape the investigation or prosecution. Id. at 377 n.3. "If the prosecution gained information which aided it in the preparation of its case" then the violation of the attorney-client relationship infected the proceedings. Id. at 377. Furthermore, once the State interfered with "the defendant's right to private consultation" with his lawyer, "that

interference is as applicable to a second trial as to the first," and therefore the court reversed the conviction and dismissed the charge. *Id*.

The Supreme Court stated:

It is our conclusion that the defendant is correct when he says that the shocking and unpardonable conduct of the sheriff's officers in eavesdropping upon the private consultations between the defendant and his attorney, and thus depriving him of his right to effective counsel, vitiates the whole proceeding. The judgment and sentence must be dismissed.

Cory, 62 Wn.2d at 371. See also State v. Granacki, 90 Wn.App. 598, 959 P.2d 667 (1998) (when detective views defendant's notes about attorney communications, State irreparably intruded into attorney-client privilege even if information not given to prosecutor). In a case where the jail seized and read defendant's legal documents which included private communications with his attorney, Division Three followed the Cory decision and found the jail guard's actions violated the defendant's right to counsel. State v. Garza, 99 Wn.2d 291, 296-97, 994 P.2d 868, review denied, 141 Wn.2d 1014 (2000).

Just as was the case in *Cory*, law enforcement in this case gained critical information from confidential meetings, albeit instead of using an electronic recording device, obtained the information in a less sophisticated, low tech way by stationing officers outside the door to exploit the lack of soundproofing. As a result of their eavesdropping, the

officers both stated they overheard what can only be described as a pivotal inculpatory statement by Mr. Booth.

The State's conduct here was especially egregious. While the jail guards were ostensibly assigned to act as security, the guards' presence directly outside the visitation booth resulted in the blurring of "security" into the corrosive role of eavesdropping on the confidential conversations between attorneys, investigator and Mr. Booth regarding the upcoming triple homicide trial. The claim that the officers were stationed outside the booth is belied by the clear, consistent testimony that even in the visitation room, Mr. Booth remained chained to a metal stool bolted to the floor. In short, Mr. Booth was securely in the room; the two guards stationed in close proximity were not for the purpose of security but were stationed there to eavesdrop on confidential communication.

The second method of governmental intrusion was in the courtroom during pre-trial hearings; Det. Riorden effectively blocked Mr. Booth's last avenue of confidential communication with his attorney by sitting approximately two feet directly behind the defense table during hearings. Government intrusion into a defendant's private communications with his attorney will not automatically be deemed a per se prejudicial violation of the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel, but prejudice will be

presumed where the government's actions are purposeful and without justification. *Garza*, 99 Wn. App. at 298-301; *Weatherford v. Bursey*, 429 U.S. 545, 97 S. Ct. 837, 51 L. Ed. 2d 30 (1977).

Here, Det. Riorden's presence during court hearings was an egregious and purposeful intrusion in order to listen to confidential conversation between Mr. Booth and Mr. Hunko and to observe notes. Det. Riorden's claim that he was providing "rear security" is belied for two reasons: (1) he was an investigator in the case; security was provided by the corrections bureau of the Sheriff's Office, and (2) after the detective was expelled from the courtroom, his "security" position in the courtroom was not replaced. The security was provided by officers stationed at the rear of the courtroom, a practice that continued during the post-trial motion hearing. Detective Riordan was told by his superior to sit in the courtroom directly behind Booth at counsel table. This Court found that at "no point during his time as security did Riordan overhear or intend to overhear conversations between Booth and his lawyer." Booth, slip. op. at *12. The Court overlooks, however the trial court judge's stated basis for taking the extraordinary step of banishing Detective Riorden from the courtroom during a hearing on November 4, 2011, and from future hearings: that the detective was either eavesdropping or gave every indication of

eavesdropping on privileged communication. At the hearing, Booth told the court that Riorden was sitting behind the defense table and that he was eavesdropping when Booth tried to talk with his attorney, Mr. Hunko. The court stated: I observed that and I made sure that's not going to happen again. RP (11/4/11) at 7. The court said that Detective Riorden was excluded from the courtroom in the future, stating that he did not want the detective to taunt Booth nor interfere with his communication with Hunko. The court stated:

Well, that isn't going to happen again because I've directed that he's not to be in here. And, again, I don't want you attacking the transport officers for doing their jobs, and I 'm going to see to it that somebody that you have a beef with isn't here in the courtroom, at least not in a position where he's able to sit behind you and taunt you or interfere with what you believe to be the ability to communicate with your attorney.

RP (11/4/11) at 8.

The Court concluded that substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings and that its findings support its conclusion that no violation of Booth's right to effective representation or due process occurred. *Booth*, slip op. at 11-12. The court's conclusion, however, overlooks testimony by defense counsel Hunko that Booth was objecting because "Detective Riorden was evidently over behind my back reading the notes or listening to what we were saying." RP at 125. Hunko's testimony was not a robust

assertion that he was able to communicate freely with his client; Hunko stated that he had to speak in lower volume due to potential of eavesdropping, that he "hope[d]" he was able to represent Booth effectively, and that he "suppose[d]" his trial strategy and preformation was not affected by the fact that officers were outside the interview room door. RP at 135. He stated that he was unaware of any effect the presence of the officers had on Booth. RP at 135.

The intrusion was even more blatant during *voir dire*, when Officer West was actually inside a meeting room with Mr. Booth and his attorney Mr. Hunko and his investigator while they discussed jury questionnaires and trial strategy. 3RP at 499.

The timing of the pervasive eavesdropping activity greatly increased the conclusion that Booth was prejudiced by the intrusions. Had police listened in after all matters had concluded, the likelihood of prejudice would have been diminished. Cf. *Peña-Fuentes*, supra, (post-trial eavesdropping could not have affected trial, but may have affected defendant's motion for a new trial). Instead, police recorded and listened to all calls made prior to trial, a time when Mr. Booth and his attorney undoubtedly had extensive discussions about the facts and the defense strategy.

The trial court's Finding of Fact 1.26 that Officer West "did not overhear any of the conversation between Mr. Hunk and Mr. Booth" is unsupported by the record. Similarly, Finding of Fact 1.29 that Mr. Hunko did not express that he felt his ability to represent Mr. Booth was impacted by the presence of Officer West in the meeting room. The question of undermined confidence is not held by the attorney, but by the defendant. Therefore, Mr. Hunko's level of confidence regarding the confidentiality of his communication with Mr. Booth is irrelevant; the privilege is held by Mr. Booth.

"The United States Supreme Court has expressly rejected a per se prejudice rule for such eavesdropping, holding that when an eavesdropper did not communicate the topic of the overheard conversations and thereby create [']at least a realistic possibility of injury to [the defendant] or benefit to the State, there can be no Sixth Amendment violation.[']" *Pena-Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d at 818 (quoting *Weatherford v. Bursey*, 429 U.S. 545, 557–58, 97 S.Ct. 837, 51 L.Ed.2d 30 (1977).

In this case, when addressing his challenge to the effectiveness of his counsel during the CrR 7.8 hearing, this Court found that the question of whether Booth's calls were recorded was of minimal importance, and that "[i]nstead, the critical inquiry at Booth's hearing was whether jail staff

shared the content of the overheard attorney-client conversation." *Booth*, slip. op. at 15-16 (citing *Pena-Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d at 819-20). Booth submits that the Court overlooks the language of *Pena-Fuentes*, which specifies that the "topic" be transmitted, not the contents. Here, Officer Haskins testified that he told Lieutenant Pea that he was listening to conversations and was "going towards legal questions, legal manner." RP at 352. The "topic" of the convictions—that it involved legal matters—was submitted to Lt. Pea. RP at 352. The language contained in Fuentes does not require that specific "contents" be transmitted find a Sixth Amendment violation, only that the topic be disclosed. Here, Booth submits that it is clear that the topic was in fact legal matters related to the defense.

Here, the actors at issue are both jail guards and detectives, who infringed upon Booth's Sixth Amendment right, and therefore prejudice must be presumed. As noted above, after the presumption is established, "the State has the burden to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not prejudiced." *Peña-Fuentes*, 179 Wash.2d at 819-20, (citing *Granacki*, 90 Wash. App. at 602 n.3. Where State intrusion into privileged attorney-client communications is at issue, "the defendant is hardly in a position to show prejudice when only the State knows what was

done with the information gleaned." *Peña-Fuentes*, 179 Wash.2d at 820, 318 P.3d 257. Therefore, because the State is "the party that improperly intruded on attorney-client conversations," it is the State that "must prove that its wrongful actions did not result in prejudice to the defendant." *Peña-Fuentes*, 179 Wash.2d at 820.

Moreover, the State has not rebutted the presumption of prejudice arising from the evidence presented that the State intruded into privileged attorney-client communications. After the presumption is ascertained, "the State has the burden to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not prejudiced." *Peña-Fuentes*, 179 Wash.2d at 819-20, 318 P.3d 257 (citing *Granacki*, 90 Wash. App. at 602 n.3, 959 P.2d 667).

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