FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/10/2020 3:27 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98073-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 49492-2-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

JOHNN ALLEN BOOTH, JR.,

Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division One, And the Superior Court of Lewis County

> JONATHAN MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 35564

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

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

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

The Court should not accept review in this case. The Court of Appeals denial of Booth's appeal does not invoke either of the considerations Booth cites in his petition for review to this Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with any decision from this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Court of Appeals properly applied *State v. Pena Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d 808, 318 257 (2014) and *State v. Cory*, 62 Wn.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963). *Booth*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2821 at 14-16, 20-21. The Court of Appeals decision is also not in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, as required in RAP 13.4(b)(2).

E. ARGUMENT.

The Court of Appeals analysis of the trial court's rulings was correct. The Court of Appeals applied the proper standard of review of a CrR 7.8(b) motion, abuse of discretion and reviewing the trial court findings of fact for substantial evidence and whether those findings supported the conclusion of law. Further, the Court of Appeals applied the proper abuse of discretion standard when it reviewed the trial court's decision to exclude Booth's testimony regarding his faith in his trial counsel. These holdings by the Court of

Appeals do meet the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to grant review.

 The Court Of Appeals Decision, Finding The Trial Court's Did Not Abuse Its' Discretion When It Denied Booth's CrR 7.8(b) Motion Because The Trial Court's Conclusions Were Supported By the Findings and Those Conclusions Support That Booth Was Not Prejudiced, Does Not Warrant Review, As It is Not In Conflict With Any Decision From This Court.

Booth appears to argue the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with this Court's decisions in *Pena Fuentas*, 179 Wn.2d 808 and Cory, 62 Wn.2d 371, although does not explicitly explain how absent an inference because the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court. Petition 3-17. Booth, throughout his petition to this Court selectively cites to facts contained within the record that are beneficial to him, argues facts with no citation to the record, and takes testimony out of context. Petition 5-6, 9-11. Booth attempts to incite emotion and passion by mischaracterizing the conduct of the State agents as "engaged in a deliberate, egregious pattern of eavesdropping..." Petition 4. The only person who testified there was an egregious pattern of deliberate eavesdropping was Booth, whom the trial court in its oral ruling found much of his testimony not credible or supported by the known evidence. RP 460-92, 498-513, 546-60. The consistent testimony from Booth's witnesses was there

was no deliberate eavesdropping on Booth's private communications between himself and his defense team.

Booth was classified as a maximum security inmate at the Lewis County Jail due to his incarceration history and his criminal history. RP 284. A policy in place since the mid 2000's has required that inmates with Booth's classification be escorted by at least two officers, and those officers must stand by, outside the room while the inmate meets with his attorney. RP 203, 284-85. This is because inmates such as Booth are considered a threat to safety and security of the facility. RP 284. According to Chief Hanson, who ran the corrections bureau and previously worked as an officer, sergeant and a lieutenant in the jail, Booth's treatment was not special, it was the standard operating procedure for maximum security inmates. RP 282-86. Chief Hanson did not instruct his staff to eavesdrop on Booth's conversation with his attorneys. RP 294.

The jail's phone system records outgoing phone. RP 296, 306. Attorney and private investigator phone calls are not recorded, as long as the jail has been made aware the phone number belongs to an attorney or private investigator so it can be put into the system. RP 289-91, 306-07.

There was a known flaw in the meeting rooms at the jail, they were not completely soundproof. RP 151-54, 166-70, 309-10. There were many improvements made to combat the issue. *Id.* It was obvious when you entered the rooms they are not soundproof. RP 52. According to one local attorney, who has practiced in the area for 20 years, 10 as a prosecutor and 10 as a defense attorney, a person could yell and jail staff would be able to hear them, but he was never concerned about the Sheriff's Office listening to what he said in the booths. RP 45-46, 59, 63-64.

Booth called nine corrections officers from the Lewis County Jail to testify. RP 98, 178, 195, 224, 229, 317, 347, 422, 428. Four of these officers regularly transported Booth while he awaited trial, Officers West, Lamping, Sullivan, and Harper. RP 99, 179, 181, 430-31. Of those four, two, Officer West and Officer Lamping, heard Booth one day state loudly while in the attorney-client booth that he had intentionally shot one of the victims. RP 100-02, 181. Neither officer had ever disclosed the statements to anyone, except Lamping believed he may have said something to the other two transport officers (although those officers do not recall such a conversation). RP 101-05, 113, 181-83, 390, 432-33. Both officers stated it appeared as though Booth was being purposefully loud so they could

hear what he was saying. RP 113, 115, 190-91. Officers Engle, Allen, Rodkey, and Sergeant Barrett had nothing to offer except they did not hear any conversation between Booth and his attorney, and at best you can hear muffled words from the booth, but are unable to make out the conversation unless you open the door. RP 195-200, 224-26, 229-33, 422-27.

The last corrections officer, Officer Haskins, the compliance officer explained the one instance, while listening to recordings of telephone calls made by Booth, "I found that it was going towards legal questions, legal manner. And at that point, I stopped the conversation. I looked up on the internet the phone number that was being addressed, and it came to an attorney." RP 352. Officer Haskins immediately reported the situation to his superior, Lieutenant Pea, and then told Booth. *Id.* Officer Haskins also had an issue with Booth regarding Booth's private investigator, John Wickert, who also ran a local bail bond company. RP 355, 357-60, 363-64. The issue was getting Mr. Wickert to provide a number that was exclusively for the private investigation business, because the jail would not block the number for the bail bond business. RP 363-65. Officer Haskins did not recall hearing any conversation between

Booth and his private investigator, and if he had it would have been reported to Lt. Pea. RP 358.

Of the six detectives who worked on the case, the only detective who remembered listening to more than one of Booth's phone calls was Detective Sergeant Breen.³ RP 89-91, 92-93, 330, 344, 371-72, 402-05. Detective Sergeant Breen, who was in charge of supervising the detectives and tasked himself with monitoring Booth's phone calls while Booth was housed in the Lewis County Jail. RP 405. None of the phone calls listened to were between Booth and his defense team. RP 300, 407-08, 420.

There was a situation in the courtroom where people were trying to come up and sit in the first row, closer to Booth, causing a security risk. RP 335. Detective Sergeant Breen assigned Detective Riordan to sit directly behind Booth as an extra security person during courtroom hearings. RP 335, 414. Detective Riordan never attempted to listen to Booth's conversations with his attorney, nor did he read any notes written between Booth and his attorney. RP 376, 380. Detective Riordan was not aware Booth was concerned Detective Riordan was listening to his conversation until

³ The State will refer to the detectives' titles as they were during the initial investigation and trial, not their subsequent promotions for clarity purposes.

October 28th, when Booth told Detective Riordan to not sit behind him or he would spit on him, and then Booth later followed through with his threat. RP 373, 376-78. The trial court instructed Detective Riordan to not sit behind Booth. RP 379.

Booth testified there were detectives, including Detective Riordan, outside the attorney visiting booths listening to his conversations. RP 469. This testimony was contradicted by Booth's own witnesses, who stated no detectives were ever present in the hall areas behind the visiting booths. RP 262, 312-13, 329, 420. Booth also had revisionist history regarding how detectives procured the murder weapon and then called Detective Riordan a shit detective. RP 469-70, 508-10.

A trial court's determination of a CrR 7.8(b) motion is reviewed for abuse of discretion, and the findings of fact that support this decision are reviewable for substantial evidence. *State v. Blanks*, 139 Wn. App. 543, 548, 161 P.3d 455, 457 (2007); *citing State v. Padilla*, 84 Wn. App. 523, 525, 928 P.2d 1141, *review denied*, 132 Wn.2d 1002 (1997), *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 343, 150 P.3d 59 (2006); *State v. Gomez-Florencio*, 88 Wn. App. 254, 258, 945 P.2d 228 (1997). The Court of Appeals correctly applied this standard of review in Booth's case. The State, in the space

constraints here cannot provide the evidence for each and every finding of fact the trial court entered. CP 352-57. But the evidence outlined above supports the trial court's findings of fact it entered in regards to the argument Booth makes here in this Petition. The Court of Appeals evaluated the evidence in the record and found there was substantial evidence to support the trial court's factual findings. *Booth*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2821 at 4-9, 13-15.

The Court of Appeals next turned to the conclusions of law, and if the trial court's finding support them, which it properly reviewed de novo. *Id.* at 13-15. The Court of Appeals reviewed the conclusions of law under the backdrop of *Cory* and *Pena Fuentes*. *Id.* at 14. The Court of Appeals applied the principle in *Cory*, that an intrusion by the State into a defendant's private attorney-client communications is a violation of the "defendant's right to effective representation and due process." *Booth*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2821 at 14. The Court of Appeals correctly noted under *Pena Fuentes*, once the intentional intrusion is shown, prejudice is presumed and the State must show it is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Pena Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d at 819-20. The Court of Appeals concluded the State showed beyond a reasonable doubt Booth was not prejudiced and the trial court's

findings support this conclusion. *Booth*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2821 at 15-16.

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with this Court's decisions in *Cory* or *Pena Fuentes*. The Court of Appeals understood the gravity of the conduct Booth alleged the State engaged in, evaluated the evidence, found it sufficient to support the trial court's findings, and those findings support the conclusion that Booth was not prejudiced. Booth may disagree with the ultimate conclusion, but the Court of Appeals reasoning and decision does not conflict with a decision from this Court and therefore review is not warranted by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

 The Court Of Appeals Decision, Determining The Trial Court Did Not Error When It Limited The Scope Of Booth's Testimony, Does Not Warrant Review, As It is Not In Conflict With Any Decision From The Court Of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals held the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded evidence proffered by Booth that he had lost confidence in his attorney. *Booth*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2821 at 17-18. Booth appears to argue in this Petition the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with *State v. Garza*, 90 Wn. App. 291, 994 P.2d 868 (2000). Petition at 18-19. Booth also states, "the court's ruling denied Mr. Booth the right to a fully-informed decision on the CrR 7.8 motion and the ability to make the requisite record for appellate

review of the decision to deny the motion." Petition at 18. This statement is false.

The only sustained objection was to the following question:

Q. Did you have any faith or confidence in your attorney?

A. Absolutely not.

MR. MEAGHER: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained. Irrelevant.

RP 494. After this question, Booth's attorney followed up attempting to inquire regarding if Booth had any issues with his attorney during the prosecution of the case. RP 494. The State objected. RP 494. The trial court and Booth's attorney had a discussion regarding the relevance of the questions and the potential cumulative nature of the testimony. RP 494-95. The trial court asked how it was relevant, and noted of Booth's prior counsel, Mr. Hunko's, testimony, "didn't he state that Mr. Booth had filed a bar complaint against him?" RP 494. Booth's counsel answered, "He did." *Id.* The trial court then stated, "Okay. So it's apparent to me that there was discord between them, or there is now at least discord between Mr. Booth and his primary counsel, Mr. Hunko, at the time of trial." RP 494. Booth's counsel then states that Booth simply wishes to testify that his complaints that he was making to his attorney about the detectives listening into his

conversations were not being addressed to the trial court. RP 494-95. The trial court had further comment and Booth's counsel then stated, "I will move on." RP 495.

Booth also complains the trial court "may not properly make credibility determination before hearing a witness's testimony." Petition 19. The State is presuming Booth is complaining the trial court made a credibility determination about Booth and his proffered testimony. The trial court judge is the same judge who presided over Booth's trial. This is the same judge who heard Booth testify at trial. CP 430. There is no doubt the trial court remembered Booth's demeanor while testifying at the trial, as Booth nonchalantly joked about names of individuals and at one point during crossexamination stated "he was thinking of shooting the prosecutor." CP 430. The trial court was in a position to make credibility determinations about Booth the moment he decided to take the stand and testify. The Court of Appeals defers to the finder of fact on regarding the credibility of witnesses. State ex. rel. Lige v. County of Pierce, 65 Wn. App. 614, 618, 829 P.2d 217 (1992), review denied 120 Wn.2d 1008 (1992).

As stated above, the only limitation was whether Booth could answer if he had any faith or confidence in his attorney. The trial court

clearly understood Booth had lost his faith and/or confidence in Mr. Hunko. RP 494-95. The Court of Appeals reviewed the trial court's ruling and held it was "clear that the trial court viewed Booth's proposed testimony, indicating he had lost faith in his attorney during the preparation of his murder trial, as the 'needless presentation of cumulative evidence.'" *Booth*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2821 at 18, *citing* ER 403. The Court of Appeals, applying the correct standard of review, held the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it limited Booth's proffered testimony. The Court of Appeals decision is grounded in the evidentiary rules, ER 401, ER 402, and ER 403. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with another Court of Appeals decision, therefore review is not warranted by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(2)

F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review on the issue Booth raised in his petition for review.

If this Court were to accept review, the State would respectfully request an opportunity to submit supplemental briefing.